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SUMMARY

The Helmers Manufacturing Company Building occupies a large tract of land southeast of downtown
Leavenworth, Leavenworth County, Kansas. The property includes two red brick buildings constructed in 1909.
The main manufacturing structure is a U-shaped building with a traditional wood post-and-beam structural
system. The primary, long narrow rectangular block has a shed roof. The north half is four stories tall, and the
south half is three stories tall. Smaller one-story brick blocks extend toward the rear (east), perpendicular to the
ends of the primary block. As the property evolved over the past century, the additions included several large
shed structures on the rear elevation. Interior changes also reflect its evolving function. Temporary pattitions were
erected and office spaces were expanded into the open manufacturing floors. Corrugated fiberglass panels
currently fill the window openings. The second building on the property is the coal house and engineering shop,
located approximately 20 feet west of the main building. This two-story building has a gable roof with stepped
parapets and fire walls. Despite the alterations to the main building, the imposing mass of the Helmers
Manufacturing Company Building changed little, It clearly communicates its original use as a large-scale
manufacturing facility constructed at the turn of the twentieth century.

ELABORATION

SETTING

The Helmers Manufacturing Company Building
occupies the central portion of an irregular 13-
acre lot southeast of the downtown industrial
district. The formal address of the property is
2500 South 2™ Street, but city directories
historically described the address of the Helmers
Manufacturing Company as 3™ Street and Santa
Fe Street. Third. Street does not actually contact
the west line of the property, but the building is
oriented north-south as though it did.

_MAPRVEST
R e

The massive industrial facility is nestled in a

heavily wooded area that is barely visible from
the main thoroughfares, 4% Street fo the west and
Limit Street to the south. The lot interrupts
Sheridan Street and Santa Fe Street, which terminate at both the east and west property lines. Driveways extend
onto the property from Santa Fe Street on the west and from Sheridan Street on the east. Second Street follows the
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east property line until it intersects Santa Fe Street, at which point it stops. The lots surrounding the Helmers
Manufacturing Company property contain small houses or are vacant and wooded. The exception is one other
indusirial facility located directly north of the nominated property. A steep bluff along the property line separates
the two complexes.

The Helmers Manufacturing Company lot slopes gradually upward to the east on the main approach from the west
end of Santa Fe Street. The grade continues to rise across the property so that the entry level on the cast elevation
is in the second story of the building, while the ground level on the west elevation is in the first story. Wood and
stone retaining walls line the base of the wooded bluffs that dominate the northeast comer of the lot as one
approaches the east property line. The ground surrounding the building is a patchwork of concrete and asphalt
paving, gravel driveways, and grass. The areas used regularly are paved while those used less often, such as on
the north side of the main building, are gravel. Two railroad spurs previously serviced the property. One ran
along the west elevation of the building, and one ran adjacent to the east end of the rear wings. Non-historic
paving has covered both sets of tracks.

The coal house and engineering shop stands about twenty feet west of the manufacturing building, centered on the
west elevation of Section A, The west railroad spur ran between the main building and the coal house.

MAIN MANUFACTURING BUILDING

Exterior

The main building is composed of several large, rectangular masses that create a well-defined industrial facility
(see plan). The largest portion of the building is the long and narrow, four-story brick section (A) at the north end

of the main block. The south end of this mass steps down to a three-story height (B). Roughly at the midpoint of .

the three-story section, the brick block bends to the sontheast creating an obtusé angle with the main axis of the
building (C). Sections B and C have shed roofs. A one-story, flat-roof addition (D) covers roughly the north haif
of the east elevation of Section A. Two, large single-story flat-roof blocks (E & F) extend east from this addition.
Construction materials for Sections D — F include brick, wood, metal siding, and concrete block. Two, two-story
flat-roof brick blocks (G & H) project from the east elevation of Sections B and C. The final component of the
building (I} is a small, flat-roof block composed of open metal sheds and enclosed concrete block structures, that
projects from the east elevation of Section G. Review of available Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps indicates that
Sections A, B, C, and E were constructed in 1909; Sections D and F were added between 1924 and 1949; and
Sections G, H and T were added after 1949, !

! Sanborn Maps are available for the years 1913, 1924 and 1949. Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd, Sanborn Fire
Insurance Map of Leaverworth, Kansas, (New York: Sanborn Map Company), 1913, Sheet 28, Database online,
htip://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-000005.him?CCSI=45n; 1924, Sheet 26, Database online,

http: /sanborn,umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/30 1 0/dateid-000006. htm?CCSI=45n; 1924, Corrected to 1949, Sheet 26,
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The red brick exterior walls of the manufacturing building lack ornamentation. Articulated vertical pilasters and
flat horizontal spandrels create a grid that delineates banded window openings on each floor and on all elevations.
The pilasters resemble shallow buttresses with setbacks af each of the top two stories. This detail and the stepped
parapet on the west elevation of the Section A are the only stylistic elements of an otherwise utilitarian factory
design.

Three brick elements rise above the roofline of the primary block (Sections A-C). The circulation tower for
Section A is a small external block that rises at the center of the east wall. It rises one full story above the
roofline. A second head-house extends above the roofline at the junction of Sections B and C on the west
elevation, indicating the location of a second freight elevator. At the southeast commer of Section A, four brick
piers rise above the roof to support a frame of steel I-beams {see phoro 1(}). Historic images reveal that this grid
once supported a large metal water tower that is no longer extant.

The main entrance to the first story is on the southern end of the west elevation in Section A. A non-descript
modern metal and glass door fills the entrance. All of the windows associated with the finished interior spaces on
the first and second floors are also non-historic. Alternating first story bays on west elevation of Sections B and C
confain freight doors and loading docks. On the east elevation at the junction of Sections A and G a non-historic
metal-slab door provides an entrance to the second-story office. Due to the slope of the lot, this entrance is only a
short run of steps above the grade of the parking lot. Freight entrances and loading docks pierce the first story
walls in various locations of the remaining Sections (ID — I). The east end of Section F opens into a tall, narrow
shed that is open on the south end (see photo 24).

The tripartite window openings have brick sills and steel lintels. The building retains almost all of its original
wood window frames. These openings originally contained nine-over-nine hung wood sashes. Most of the sashes
have been removed, although the wood frames and sash pulleys are intact. Fiberglass panels cover the exterior of
openings. They ailow light info the interior while protecting it from the elements. A few original sashes remain
scattered throughout the building (see photo 9). The remodeled first and second story offices have non-historic
single-light, fixed aluminum windows.

Inferior

The main entrance opens info a small vestibule and a finished office area in Section A. The 1913 Sanborn Map
confirms that this was the historic function of this space. While the original layout of the offices is unknown, the
current configuration leaves many of the distinctive heavy-timber posts visible. A more-finished wood veneer

Database online, http://sanborn.umi.com.proxty.mepl.lib. mo us/ks/3010/dateid-000007.him ?CCSI=45n. Accessed 30 July
2008.
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covers many of the structural members, and some of the posts are encased within partition walls. The walls and
ceilings have a plaster finish and wood box beams (see photo 16). The office area presently includes a larger area
of the first floor than is shown on the Sanborn Maps. The first floor also includes unfinished storage areas and
machine shops.

The south half of the second floor of Section A was converted into offices in the 1980s. All of the posts and
beams remain at least partially visible. The finishes include exposed brick walls, eprsed spiral ductwork, and, in
some locations, hardwood flooring. Plywood walls frame smaller storage spaces in the unfinished, north half of
the second story.

Section D is accessible through an opening in the east wall of Section A, where the removal of a window and
spandrel now provides access between the two blocks. This space retains a peaked, metal skylight with its
original mechanized operating system, Sections E and F have high ceilings and house storage, machine shops, and
loading areas. The structure of these Sections, added between 1924 and 1949, is a system of wood posts and
trusses that support the flat roof. Newer partition walls are either plywood or concrete block. A series of
openings, some filled with pedestrian doors or freight doors, connects these Sections. The entire east end of
Sections E and ¥ is open to the exterior. A protective shed stands between the end of the building and the steep
hill that rises behind it. The shed originally sheltered trains approaching the f)uiiding to load or unload materials
and merchandise.

Section G and H are constructed in much the same manner as the main building (Section A — C), with heavy
wood posts and beams, brick walls, and wood floors. Metal fire doors separate the sections (see phoro 22).
Section 1, is a concrete block shed with a metal roof. It has a loading dock at its north end and set of large doors at
the south end.

The third floor of Sections A-C is completely open (see photo 19). The two rows of painted wood posts define
bays in the floor plan. Each post has a metal (cast iron) cleat that supports the large, painted wood beams. The
brick walls are painted; tongue-and-groove wood covers the ceiling; and narrow wood planks cover the floor.
Small painted wood signs hang from the beams to identify each bay by number. Many of the signs remain in their
original positions. Tall window openings line each exterior wall and the original wood frames are clearly visible
(see photo 18). Fire sprinkler pipes and bare-bulb electrical fixtures run along the ceiling. The heating system
includes metal steam pipes attached directly to the brick walls. Metal fire doors separafe the circulation towers
from the open floors.
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The fourth floor is identical fo the floor below in layout, finishes, and mechanical features (see photo 17). The
slope of the shed roof is noticeable at this level. An original or early lavatory occupies a brick alcove adjacent to
the central stair on the east side of the building.

There are two circulation towers in the building. The tower centered on the east elevation of Section A confains a
wood stairwell and a freight elevator (see phofo 20). Both elements are original to the building; the elevator
retains its original mechanical system, This tower sits outside the plane of the wall so as not to encroach on any of
the manufacturing floor space. The second circulation tower (serving Sections B & C) also contains a wood
stairwell and an original freight elevator (see phofo 21). Metal fire doors separate the tower from the
manufacturing spaces on either side. There is a small drinking fountain adjacent to the stairs. Below the water
fower structure is a third wood stairwell, Metal fire doors also separate this stairwell from the manufacturing
floor.

COAL HOUSE AND ENGINEERING SHOP

Exterior

The two-story coal house and engineering shop is located approximately 20 feet west of the manufacturing
building near the center of Section A. The red brick building has a concrete foundation and an asphalt-shingled
gable roof with a north-south orientation. The end walls have stepped parapets. A brick firewall at the center of
the building also rise above the roofline, mimicking the shape of the parapets. The south elevation has three large
bays. Non-historic stone panels now infill the bays and the decorative panels above each bay (see photo 25).

On the west elevation, brick pilasters define six irregular bays. The two southern bays each contain two narrow
windows with brick segmental arches. The second bay from the south also contains a door with a brick segmental
arch. While these are second-story openings, they are at ground level on the south end of the building. The lot
slopes down towards the northwest comer of the building. The northern four bays contain, in order from north to
south, a pedestrian door, a non-historic freight entrance, a window, and another non-historic freight door.
Removal of a brick pilaster created a single non-historic freight bay that encompasses the two northemn-most bays
(see photo 26).

The north facade contains two windows in the first story and a non-historic entrance to the second story. A
rectangular brick projection that extends northward from the northeast corner of the building was the foundation

for a smokestack that is no longer extant.

The east elevation contains an irregular pattern of doors and small windows, all with brick segmental arches.
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Interior

The interior of the coal house and engineering shop has been altered. A concrete floor slab was added within the
last twenty years above the original boiler pit. Portions of the original wood truss system have been replaced with
steel. Non-historic partition walls divide the space.

INTEGRITY _

The Helmers Manufacturing Company Building retains the character-defining features that communicate its
significance as a historic industrial facility. Only the original dry kiln at the north end of the building, half of
Section E (during the construction of Section D), and the smoke stack north of the coal house have been
demolished. The original building mass has evolved over the past century with the construction of additions that
enhanced its functional capabilities and economic viability. All of the additions occur on the rear (east) elevation,
leaving the primary, west elevation largely unaltered. Interior changes mainly involved cosmetic alterations that
left exposed the character-defining post-and-beam structural elements and brick walls. Partition walls added in
various locations are easily removable. Removal of the original window sashes was the most significant
alteration. A few solitary sashes and most of the original window frames remain intact. No changes were made to
the window openings, and the fiberglass panels currently in place reinforce the regular pattern of the historic
fenestration. The vast number and large size of the window openings that allowed light and fresh air into the
building continues to convey important information about its period and function that is equally important to the
design of the missing sashes themselves. Constructed in the early part of the twentieth century, the Helmers
Manufacturing Company Building has remained a viable manufacturing and warehouse facility until the present
day due to its location, its access to transportation, and its open interior plan. The nominated property retains the
size, massing, and details of design, workmanship, and materials necessary to convey the industrial manufacturing
functions and warchouse activities historically associated with the facility. '
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SUMMARY

The Helmers Manufacturing Company Building, located at 2500 South 2™ Street, Leavenworth, Leavenworth
County, Kansas, was constructed in 1909 for the Helmers Manufacturing Company. It is locally significant under
National Register Criterion C in the area of ARCHITECTURE. The building is an excellent example of an early
- twentieth-century manufacturing facility constructed at the juncture of traditional and modern building
technologies. Like many industrial buildings of this vintage, Helmers Manufacturing Company Building has a
very plain, utilitarian design with load-bearing brick walls and heavy timber framing. Vertical pilasters form
subtle buttresses that supplement the more obvious structural systems. Other features that reflect evolving
industrial building technology include steel lintels that provide the structural capacity for grouped windows,
instead of single openings, and modern mechanical systems (most notably light, heat, and fire safety) that
improved working conditions and building safety. The period of significance is 1909, the date of construction.

ELABORATION

INDUSTRIAL ARCHITECTURE IN THE EARLY TWENTIETH CENTURY

Through the nineteenth century a series of forces converged that catapulted the growth of the American industrial
economy in ways that were previously incomprehensible. These forces included the continued growth of the
nation and the opening of new territories for settlement; the rise of disposable income and the corresponding
spread of consumerism; the introduction of new technologies for construction and manufacturing; and the
expansion of the nation’s transportation network, most importantly the railroad system. Companies that began in
Main Street storefronts often found they were not able to function at maximum capacity, even if their operation
expanded the full block. Industrial entrepreneurs desired a single facility capable of supporting their entire
manufacturing process. It was possible to erect such a building, or even a multiple-building industrial complex, in
areas where the necessities of mechanical power, transportation, and consumer demand converged. Leavenworth
was one such city where these elements came together to support a strong manufacturing climate.

Early nineteenth century mill buildings provided the prototype for manufacturing facilities of the industrial age.
Load-bearing masonry walls (usually brick) enclosed wood post-and-beam structures. The manufacturing floors
had open plans punctuated by regularly spaced structural posts. The spacing of the wood posts affected the size
of the machinery the building could hold. These buildings stood adjacent to streams and rivers, which provided
the power to operate the machinery. The development of coal and steam powered engines enabled manufacturing
facilities to move further inland.

Into the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, most industrial and manufacturing buildings remained
strictly utilitarian structures that rarely displayed complex or omate architectural detailing. Buildings typically
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had rectangular footprints and were between three and five stories tall. These buildings, however, were not
without aesthetic qualities and subtleties. Architectoral expression was found in simple features such as brick
corbelling, stringcourses, and fenestration patterns that enhnanced large expanses of brick walls.?

The Helmers Manufacturing Company Building, like its contemporaries, is an overwhelmingly ufilitarian design
devoid of ornament. Articulated brick pilasters are the key architectural feature. These vertical elements,
occurring between each bay of windows, serve as a counterpoint to the wide brick spandrels below the window
openings, creating a grid design over the walls of the building. The pilasters also have an unusual form that
projects further from the building wall at the base and steps back toward the top, reminiscent of a medieval
butfress used to enhance the structural design of large buildings. Like the many European precedents, the slender
butfresses at the Helmers Building supplemented the other structural systems. The result is thinner load-bearing
masonry walls, and, perhaps most significantly, on the interior a less-dense post-and-beam system and a less-
cluttered, more open floor plan.

Fenestration was also a critical element of industrial buildings. Windows provided the primary source of light
and fresh air to the manufacturing floors. Fenestration also became an important character-defining feature of
industrial buildings, especially following the advent of electric lights, While window sashes might be wood or
metal, the size and shape of openings reflected the period of construction. Early, load-bearing masonry buildings
were less tolerant of large openings in the walls. In order fo support the wall above the opening, windows were
typically narrow with segmental or round arch heads.

Advances in steel technology in the late nineteenth century affected the size and shape of windows. Steel lintels
not only permitted square-headed (rather than arched) openings but also provided structural support for much
larger expanses. Architects could design buildings with larger window openings or groupings of windows that
increased light and fresh air for workers. By the early twentieth century, architects and builders began using
reinforced concrete and steel skeletons to erect taller buildings with delicate masonry veneers covering their
structural members. These technologies made it possible for bands of windows to replace expanses of masonry as
the dominant architectural feature of manufacturing buildings.?

The Helmers Manufacturing Company Building, constructed in 1909, represents the juncture of traditional and
modern building technologies. The original building has a traditional wood post-and-beam structure enclosed by
load-bearing brick walls, yet the windows of the Helmers Manufacturing Company Building belie the crossroads
of construction technology. Unlike traditional, heavy timber mill buildings, the window openings at the Helmers
Building have flat steel lintels that span an opening wide enough to hold three double-hung sashes. These

; Carole Rifkind, 4 Field Guide to American Architecture (New York, NY: The Penguin Group, 1980) 271-273.
Thid, 293-297,
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windows clearly belong to the design aesthetic of the twentieth century rather than the nineteenth century. In
addition to the steel lintels, the building incorporates other metal structural components, such as cast iron cleats
that support the wood beams on top of the wood posts in Sections A, B, C, G, and H.

Traditional industrial buildings were notoriously dangerous places, Machinery had few safeguards; production
areas were crowded with machinery, structural posts, and people; and the wood structures and floors were
susceptible to catastrophic fires. To protect their corporate holdings and worker lives, as well as to project their
products as modern, factory ownets utilized available new technologies o improve safety. The advance of steel
and concrete fechnology accommodated greater interior spans between support columns, This resulted in floor
plans with fewer interruptions and supported larger factory equipment, which was itself becoming increasingly
safer. Steel and concrete were also significantly less flammable than wood, offering inherent fireproofing
capabilities.* While the general design of the Helmers Manufacturing Company Building was strongly rooted in
traditional industrial design, the owners incorporated modern systems for productivity and safety. The 1913
Sanborn map lists electric lights, restrooms, steam heat, and automatic fire sprinklers as features of the plant.

INDUSTRIAL DEVELO_PMENT IN LEAVENWORTH

The city of Leavenworth was established in 1854, along the western shore of the Missouri River, although
commercial interests had been active in the area for alinost three decades. After the establishment of the Santa Fe
Trail in 1821, Colonel Henry H. Leavenworth built a fortification near the eventual town site in order to protect
traffic along the trade route.” Support services and commercial entities quickly sprang up near the fort.
Commercial trade sustained the area until the eastern lands of the Delaware and Shawnee tribes opened for
settlement in May of 1854. Groups of seitlers came from several states across the country, including Missouri,
Ohio, West Virginia, and Pennsyivania. The settlers formed associations in order to maintain the Jaws and rights
of a civilized society in the absence of an established government. One month after moving into the territory, an
association of settlers laid out 320 acres of land for the town of Leavenworth adjacent to the fort.®

The new town was nestled between the fort to the north, the Missouri River to the west, and Three Mile Creek to
the south. Leavenworth grew rapidly from its inception. The nascent community developed along the Missouri
River, with a concentration near the confluence with Three Mile Creek. As was typical of frontier settlements, a
sawmill was the first commercial business. Other necessities soon followed, such as a post office and a boarding
house. Within a few years many small businesses and manufacturers had established facilities within the original
town limits. As settlers continued to flow into Kansas, the population of the state and of the city exploded.
Industries of every {ype found customers and their businesses quickly expanded. The proximity to river

4y
Ibid.

2 The WPA Guide to 1930s Kansas, (Lawrence, KS: University of Kansas Press, 1984), 234.
Ibid, 48.
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transportation and established trade routes gave manufacturers regional as well as local markets for their goods.
By the 1880s, Leavenworth boasted several of the largest and/or oldest manufacturing companies in Kansas. This
diverse collection of enterprises included J. Woliman’s clothing house; R.N. Hershfield’s wholesale and retail
jewelry houses; and J.F. Richardson & Company, the largest wholesaler of hardware and cuflery west of St.
Louis,”

As the city of Leavenworth expanded south and west, the original commercial and industrial areas of
Leavenworth became more concentrated. The blocks between the Missouri River on the east and Fifth Street on
the west, and between Three Mile Creek on the south and Seneca Street on the north were densely packed with
large manufacturing facilifies and small commercial buildings. By 1876 Delaware Street was the main
commercial street in Leavenworth, with storefronts of varying widths forming a solid streetscape for three full
blocks. It was the only area of the city at the fime to boast such density. South of Delaware Street, along
Cherokee and Choctaw Streets near Three Mile Creek, larger manufacturing complexes sprang up that occupied
entire blocks.® In 1883 the businesses lining Three Mile Creek included Munson & Burrows Planing Mill, O.
Duffy Woolen Mill, Great Western Manufacturing Company, Great Western Stove Company, Kansas Canning &
Preserve Works, Leavenworth Gas Light Company, Missouri Iron & Bridge Company, and Union Stove
Manufacturing Company.’

HELMERS MANUFACTURING COMPANY

The dense commercial milieu developing along Delaware Street at the end of the Civil War became the ideal
location for Henry J. Helmers, Sr. to establish his first business, a barbershop, in 1865. Helmers® fortunes
mirrored those of the city. Within a decade, Helmers broadened his endeavors to include the sale of barber
supplies. By 1879, Helmers closed the barbershop to focus on the supply business. He added the manufacture of
barber furniture in 1881 in a partnership with William Parmelee: The partnership lasted until 1887, when fire
destroyed the business and the men had to use insurance money to begin anew.

" William G. Cutler, “Manufacturing Interests,” Hisfory of the State of Kansas, (Chicago, IL.: A.T. Andreas, 1883), Part 13.
Available from Kansas Collection Books online. htip://www.kancoll.org/books/cutler/leavenworth/leavenworth-co-
DI3 htmiFMANUFACTURING INTERESTS. Accessed 26 August 2008.

¥ Plan of the City of Leavenworth, Kansas, Map (Leavenworth, KS: Ado Hunnius, 1876) Available online through the
Missowri Valley Special Collections, Kansas City Public Library, Kansas City, Missouri.
hitp:/fwww kchistory.org/cdmd/itemn_viewer.php?CISOROOT=/Maps&CISOPTR=155 1 &CISOBOX=1&REC=17. Accessed
2 December 2008.
® Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd., Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenvorth, Kansas, (New York: Sanborn
Map Company, 1883), Sheet 1, Database online. http://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-
000001 . m2?CCSI=45n. Accessed 30 July 2008. The buildings associated with the Great Western Manufacturing Company,
the Great Western Stove Company, and the Union Stove Manufacturing Company were listed in the National Register as part
of the Leavemworth Historic Industrial District on 29 April 2002,
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Again on his own, Helmers organized the Helmers Manufacturing Company, as a manufacturer of furniture and
barber chairs. In 1889, the company occupied two storefronts at 203-211 Delaware Street in the heart of the city’s
industrial area.'® By 1897 the company had expanded into five storefronts, making it the largest manufacturing
facility on Delaware Street.'” The business continued to succeed, grow, and evolve. Just before the turn of the
century, Helmers closed the barber fixtures department in order to specialize on producing general lines of
furniture."”

The company flourished through the end of the nineteenth century and into the twentieth century. Deciding to
open a warehouse in Kansas City, Missouri in 1901, Helmers constructed a seven-story brick building on West 8%
Street in Kansas City’s West Bottoms industrial district. Opened in 1905, the 213,000 square foot structure was
built as a jobbing house to distribute merchandise throughout the Kansas City metropolitan area.

‘The Helmers Manufacturing Company occupied its Delaware Street location until 1909, when Helmers
determined that the company had outgrown : — = «t
the space and needed a new building, He T
commissioned the construction of a large, ;
industrial facility south of the saturated
downtown industrial district in an

T

£
£

undeveloped area between the Missouri
Pacific Railroad and the Missouri River. The
only other industrial development nearby at
the time was the Pittsburg Vitrified Paving
& Building Brick Company, which was
northwest of the new Helmers property.”
During construction Helmers moved the
entire manufacturing operation to Kansas , 1913 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map.

City.

SHERMAN e ones

' This location is one block north of the Leavenworth Historic Industrial District, which was listed in the National Register
on 29 April 2002.

" Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd., Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, Kansas, (New York: Sanborn
Map Company), 1889 and 1897, Database online. hitp:/fsanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-

000002 .htm?CCSI=45n. Accessed 30 July 2008.

2 Tbid.

B Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Lid., Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavemworth, Kansas, (New York: Sanborn
Map Company), 1913, Sheet 28, Database online, hitp:/sanborn.ami.com.proxy, mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-

000005 .htm?CCST=45n. Accessed 30 July 2008.
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The newly-constructed Helmers Manufacturing Company Building was a four-story brick industrial building with
a traditional wood post—and-béam structure. With nearly 200,000 square feet of space, the new building greatly
expanded the capacity of the business, The long, narrow rectangular main block (Sections A and B) housed the
main manufacturing facility. A three-story arm that angled to the east (Section C) contained the paint shop, and a
long, one-story wing extending east from the north end of the main block (Section E) housed the dry kilns. A
small external bump on the east wall housed

—

the main -stairwell and freight elevator. 4 R T P ~ _ﬁ; ,
Firewalls and sliding metal fire doors : " ‘ﬁg -
v 1

separated the manufacturing floors from the
paint shop, which had its own stairwell and
freight elevator, A small building west of the
plant housed the coal house and engineering
shop. A spur of the Missouri Pacific
Railroad ran between the two buildings,
facilitating the transfer of raw materials and
finished products, as well as the delivery of
coal to fuel the operation.” The complex
also included a small oil house east of the -
main building, which was expanded with the 1924 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map Corrected for 1949

Py
AV

HERIDAN
2]

S|

n

SHERMAN

construction of a small warehouse structure
between 1913 and 1924.°

Around the time that the new facility opened; Henry J. Helmers, Sr. retired and his son, Henry J. Helmers, Jr.
assumed control of the business. Henry Helmers, Jr. continued the manufacturing operation until 1940, when he
decided fo transition from manufacturing to wholesale distribution. Henry J. Helmers, Sr. died in 1934 at the age
of 91. Henry J. Helmers, Jr. died in 1948 at the age of 81, and the Helmers Company was dissotved.'®

THE SUBSEQUENT HISTORY OF THE HELMERS MANUFACTURING COMPANY BUILDING
After the Helmers Manufacturing Company closed in 1940, the property stood vacant for six years before the

 Thid.

¥ Comparing Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, 1913 and Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd., Sanborn
Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, Kansas, (New York: Sanborm Map Company), 1924, Sheet 26, Database online.
hitp://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-000006. htm?CCSI=45n. Accessed 30 July 2008.

16 “Death Comes Last Night to Henry Helmers,” Leavemworth Times, Date unknown, from the collections at the Leavenworth
County Historical Society and Museum, reprinted with permission from the Leavenworth County Historical Society and
Museum and the Leavenworth Times, Donated by Debra Graden, Located online at the GenWeb Project.
http://skyways.lib.ks.us/genweb/leavenwo/Biographies/HELMERS htm Accessed 26 August 2008.
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Goodjohn Sash & Door Company purchased the building and moved their manufacturing facility to that location
in 1946. Brothers Amos and William Goodjohn incorporated the Goodjohn Sash & Door Company in 1907 when
they purchased the facilities of the Broadway Manufacturing Company located on Delaware Street. After fire
destroyed the building in 1908, the Goodjohn Company relocated to 614-624 Delaware Street. They remained at
this location through World War II. In 1946, when the company decided to expand, they purchased the Helmers
Manufacturing Company Building and moved their 135 employees to the vacant factory. By 1956, the Goodjohn
Company was the largest millwork manufacturer in Kansas, producing one-half million units each year. i

The building received a series of additions
between 1924 and 1949. K is not clear if
these were completed by the Helmers
Manufacturing Company or the Goodjohn
Company, although it seems likely that
they were the made by Goodjohn as the
facility was retooled for its new owners.
The additions included Sections E and F.
A second railroad spur along the eastern
edge of the property provided access to
the east end Section F for the transfer of | &
goods.** . Rendering by H. T. Sutton, 1949,

The Georgia-Pacific Company purchased the Goedjohn Sash & Door Company in 1966, although the factory
continued to operate under its original name." The building stood vacant again after the plant closed in 1969.%°

The facility experienced a second round of expansion after 1949. Again, if is unclear if Goodjohn or Georgia-
Pacific made the alterations, although the nature of the addition suggests that these additions were made while the
property functioned as a factory. These additions included Sections G and H at the south end of the ecast elevation
and a shed roof over the spur line between the main building and the coal house.” Sections G and H have brick
walls and post-and-beam structures that mimic the open floor plans of the original building.

17 “GGood Doors by Goodjohn,” To the Stars 11, no. 4 (July-October, 1956). 3; I.H. Johnston, III. Leavenworth: Beginning to
Bicentennial, (Leavenworth, KS: Johnston, 1976), 120.

18 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map for Leavenworth, Kansas. 1924 and 1924 corrected to 1949,

' yohnston. 121.

2 polk’s Leaverworth (Leavenworth County, Kansas) City Directory, (Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1969).

2 Observations comparing 1949 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map to current configuration.
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The next owner of the Helmers Manufacturing Company Building was Hallmark Cards. Hallmark Cards
established an assembly plant in 1947 and soon became Leavenworth’s largest non-federal employer.”
Encouraged to expand its facilities within the city limits, in 1973 Hallmark purchased the Helmers building for a
warchouse, which it operated until 1980.%

In 1985, Greenamyre Rentals, Inc. purchased the Helmers Manufacturing Company property. The company
renovated a portion of the second floor for its offices. Besel Roofing & Heating occupies the first floor.2* These
two companies are the current building occupants.

Henry I, Belmers

Henry J. Helmers, Sr. came to the United States from Germany in 1842 as an infant with his parents John H. and
Sophia Helmers. The family settled on a farmstead near Hermann, Missouri. At the age of 16 and with no formal
eduation, Helmers moved by himself to Leavenworth, Kansas, where he worked at odd jobs and unskilled tasks.
Among his jobs, Helmers spent a year traveling across the state of Missouri as a cabin boy on a steamboat. In
1860, Helmers began an apprenticeship with a barber in St. Louis. The experience allowed him to open his own
barber shop in his hometown in 1861, During the Civil War, Helmers enlisted in the Missouri State Militia. After
his service, he opened and closed another barber shop in Raleigh, Missouri, and decided to move to Leavenworth,
Kansas,” Shortly after marrying his childhood friend, Paulina Christel, Helmers opened his barbershop in 1865.

22 Ironically, Hallmark’s original Leavenworth facility was at 614 Delaware Street, the former home of the Goodjohn Sash &
Door Company.

2 Johnston, 121. Polk’s Leavenworth (Leavenworth County, Kansas) City Directory, (Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1973,
1981).

M polk’s Leavenworth (Leavenworth County, Kansas) City Directory, (Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1985).

2 William E. Connelley, “Henry J. Helmers, Sr.,” 4 Standard History of Kansas and Kansans, (Chicago, IL: Lewis
Publishing Company, 1918}, Transcribed 16 December 1988 by Kim Willis for the Kansas GenWeb Project online.
hetp://skyways.lib ks.us/genweb/archives/191 8ks/bioh/helmerhi.htiml. Accessed 26 August 2008, This source locates
Helmers® barbershop in the town of Raleigh, Missouri. This is not an actual place name, and may instead refer to Rolla,
Missouri, which is not far from Hermann.




NPS Form 10-900-2 . OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section Number 9 Page 18 Helmers Manufacturing Company Building
Leavenworth County, Kansas

MAJOR BIBLIOGRAPHICAL REFERENCES

Connelley, William E. “Henry J. Helmers, St.” 4 Standard History of Kansas and Kansans. Chicago: Lewis
Publishing Company, 1918. Transcribed December 16, 1998 by Kim Wills for the Kansas GenWeb
Project. http://skyways.lib.ks.us/genweb/archives/1918ks/biob/helmerhj.html. Accessed 26 August 2008.

Cutler, William G, History of the State of Kansas. Chicago: A. T. Andreas. 1883. Kansas Collection Books.
http:/Awww.kancoll.org/books/cutler/leavenworth/leavenworth-co-p1l.html. Accessed 26 August 2008.

“Death Comes Last Night to Henry Helmers.” Leavemworth Times. Date unknown. From the collections at the
Leavenworth County Historical Society and Museum. Reprinted with permission from the Leavenworth County
Historical Society and Museum and the Leavenworth Times. Donated by Debra Graden. Located online at the
GenWeb Project http.//skyways.lib.ks.us/genweb/leavenwo/Biographiess HELMERS .htm. Accessed 26 August
2008.

Hoye’s City Directory of Leavenworth, Kansas. Kansas City: Hoye Directory Company, 1907-1908.
“Good Doors by Goodjohn.” To the Stars 11, no. 4 (July-October 1956): 2-6.
Johnston, J.H,, 11, Leavenworth: Beginning to Bicenfennial. 1.eavenworth, KS: Johnston, 1976.

Leavenworth Directory Co. City Directory of Leavenworth, Kansas. Leavenworth: Leavenworth Directory Co.,
1909,

Polk’s Leavenworth (Leavenworth County, Kansas) City Directory. Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1940.
Pélk 's Leavenworth (Leavenworth County, Kansas) City Directory. Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1945.
Polk’s Leavenworth (Leavenworth Coi:n!y, Kansas) City Directory, Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1947.
Polk’s Leavenworth (Leavenw.orth County, Kansas} City Directory. Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1549,
Polk’s Leavenworth (Leavenworth County, Kansas) City Directory. Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1969,
Polk’s Leavenworth (Leaverworth County, Kansas) City Directory. Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1970.
Polk’s Leavemvworth (Leavenworth County, Kansas) City Directory, Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1970.
Polk’s Leavemvworth (Leavemworth County, Kansas) City Directory. Kans.-as City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1973.
Polk’s Leavenworth (Leavermwyorth County, Kansas) City Directory. Kansas City: RL. Polk & Co., 1981.

Polk’s Leavenworth (Leavenworth County, Kansas) City Directory. Kansas City: R.L. Polk & Co., 1985.



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section Number 9 Page 17 Heimers Manufacturing Company Building
Leavenworth County, Kansas

R L. Polk & Co.’s Leavenworth City Directory. St. Paul, Minnesofa: R.L. Polk & Co. Publishers, 1911-1912.
Rifkind, Carole. 4 Field Guide to American Architecture. New York: The Penguin Group. 1980.

Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd. Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, Kansas. New York:
Sanborn Map Company. 1883. Database online. o
http://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-000001:htm?CCSI=45n. Accessed 30 July
2008. .

Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd. Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, Kansas. New York:
Sanborn Map Company. 1889. Database online,
htip://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-000002.tm?CCST=45n. Accessed 30 July
2008. .

Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd. Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, Kansas. New York:
Sanborn Map Company. 1897. Database online.
http://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib,mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-000003 htm?CCSI=45n. Accessed 30 July
2008.

Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd. Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, Kansas. New York:
Sanborn Map Company. 1905. Database online.
http://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-000004.htm?CCS1=45n. Accessed 30 July
2008. '

Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd. Sanborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, Kansas. New York:
Sanborn Map Company. 1913. Sheet 28. Database online.
http://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.no.us/ks/3010/dateid-000005 htm?CCSI=45n. Accessed 30 July
2008. '

Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd. Sarborn Fire Insurance Map of Leavenworth, Kansas. New York:
Sanborn Map Company. 1924, Sheet 26. Database online.
http://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mcpl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-000006.htm?CCST=45n. Accessed 30 July
2008.

Sanborn Map and Publishing Company, Ltd. Sarborn Fire Insurance Map of Leaverworth, Kansas. New York:
Sanborn Map Company. 1924, Corrected to 1949, Sheet 26. Database online.
http://sanborn.umi.com.proxy.mepl.lib.mo.us/ks/3010/dateid-000007. htm?CCSI=45n. Accessed 30 July
2008.

Schwenk, Sally F. and Kerry Davis. National Register of Historic Places Nomination Form for Leavenworth
Historic Industrial District. Leavenworth, Kansas. Kansas City, Missouri: Historic Preservation Services,
LLC. 2001.



NPS Form 10-900-2 OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86}

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section Number 9 Page 18 Helmers Manufacturing Company Building
Leavenworth County, Kansas

The WPA Guide to 1930s Kansas. Lawrence: University of Kansas Press, 1984,



NPS Form 10-900-a OMB No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service ‘

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

CONTINUATION SHEET
Section Number Photographs Page 19 Helmers Manufacturing Company Building
lLeavenworth County, Kansas
PHOTOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
Photographer: : Brad Finch
F-Stop Photography
Kansas City, Missouri
Date of Photographs: 25 June 2008
Digital images submitted with nomination on CD-ROM
Photograph | Description Camera View
Number
1. Main Building and Coal House — West Elevations NE
2. Main Building — West Elevation — Norith End E
3. Main Building and North Elt — North and East Elevations SW
4, Main Building North Ell — North Elevation SW
5. Main Building North Ell — North Elevation SE
6. Main Building — East Elevation W
7. Main Building -- North Ell — South Elevation N
8. Main Building -- East Elevation and South Wing w
9. Main Building — Window Detail W
10. Main Building — Water Tower Support Detail SW
11. Main Building and South Eli — South Elevation NW
12. Main Building and South Ell — South Elevation N
13, Main Building Three-Story Portion — West Elevation NE
14, Main Building - West Elevation SE
15. Main Building — West Elevation E
16. Main Building - Interior — 1% Floor Office SW
17. Main Building — Inerior — 4" Floor Warehouse Space N
18. Main Building — Interior — 4™ Floor Window Detail W
19. Main Building — Interior — 3" Floor Warehouse Space SW
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Photograph | Description Camera View
Number
20. Main Building — Interior — 4™ Floor Circulation Core Detail | NE
21. Main Building — Interior — 3™ Floor Circulation Core Detail | SW
22, Main Building — Interior — 2™ Floor South Eil Warehouse | W
23. Main Building — Interior — North Ell Wire Glass Skylight N
24, Main Building — North Ell Covered Shed S
25. Coal House —~ South and West Elevations NE
26. Coal House — West Wall Entrance Detail E
27. Coal House — North Elevation SE
28. Coal House — Interior — Wood Truss System S
29, Covered Shed between Main Building and Coal House SE
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Photo Map
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